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Thus ended the great American Civil War, which
upon the whole must be considered the noblest and
least avoidable of all the great mass conflicts of

which till then there was record.

- Winston Churchill
A History of the Engush-Speaking Peoples
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Foreword

In 1910 Henry William Reddick published his

collection of Civil War reminiscences, Seventy-Seven Years

in Dixie: The Boys in Gray of'61- '65. This privately printed

book recounts the Civil War experiences of the author, who

enlisted in the Walton Guards in 1861 and served the

Confederacy tliroughout the war.

Henry W. Reddick (1833 - 1924) was from a prominent

pioneer family of Walton County, Florida. After the Civil War
he operated a sawmiU and lived near the community of

Santa Rosa on the southern shore of the Choctawhatchee

Bay, then a part of Washington County. Though written

forty-five years after the actual incidents, Reddick's account

of his wartime experiences is valuable and offers a splendid

glimpse into the life of the ordinary soldier and the trials and

tribulations of combat.

Reddick enlisted in the Walton County Guards in 1861

to defend Camp Walton on Santa Rosa Sound, and his

account offers one of the few detailed descriptions of this

little-known episode of West Florida's history. After

Pensacola's evacuation Reddick found himself in General

Braxton Bragg's invasion of Kentucky. It was here that

Reddick was captured by Union troops and remained a

prisoner for several arduous months until he was paroled.

Reddick then rejoined and served at Jackson, Mississippi,

and Missionary Ridge at Chattanooga.
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FOREWORD

As Sherman pushed through North Georgia towards

Atlanta in 1864, Reddick served under Joseph E. Johnston

and John B. Hood. By late 1864 he had participated in the

fierce battles of Franklin and Nashville in Tennessee. By the

time the war ended a few months later. Reddick was in

Greensboro, North Carolina.

Reddick's observations provide interesting details of one

southern soldier's perspective of the nation's worst conflict.

Thus, for students of the Civil War, it is a pleasure to see H.

W. Reddick's memoirs once more back in print and easily

available to scholars and general readers alike.

Brian R. Rucker, Ph.D.

Pensacola Junior College, FIjOrida



Preface

When a few members of South Walton Three Arts

Alliance decided to research and write a book about South

Walton County, Florida, in 1996, we came across a book

titled Seventy-Seven Years in Dixie: The Boys of Gray of

'61 - '65. It was written by a local man, W. H. Reddick, and

printed in 1910 by A. P. Bjorklund. The little gem, with its

forty-eight pages bound by a bright red cover, measured 5%"

X 8^2", about the size of this book. Only a few American Civil

War memoirs were written by Northwest Florida soldiers, so

we were excited about its historical value and vowed to get

it back in print.

At this same time we came across another memoir

written by Mr. Reddick's son. Walker H. Reddick. In Walker's

1977 book. This Is My Life, he told about growing up on Four

Mile Point on the southern shore of the Choctawhatchee

Bay, giving us insights about his father that are included in

the introduction.

It is with great appreciation that I thank Walker's son

and daughter-in-law of Macon, Georgia, Ann and W. Homer

Reddick Jr., for giving their permission to reprint his

grandfather's book, allowing it to be shared for the first time

in ninety years.

Nancy Voith, a resident of Nashville and Santa Rosa

Beach, Florida, provided the line drawings accompan3dng

this revised volume. Her whimsical touch adds an old-time
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PREFACE

flavor to the text. The photographs of Henry cind his wife,

Elizabeth Reddick, were found in the Florida State Archives,

and the photograph of Reddick's gravesite is by the editor.

A special thanks goes to Nancy James and Marilyn

Schroer for their copyediting. I tried to keep the text as true

as possible to the first volume while correcting misspellings

and other grammatical errors. I inserted in brackets the

dates of the battles when not mentioned and the name of the

states of the lesser known towns to make the text more

complete.

Two maps have been included. The first is a portion of

the Department of the GulfMap ^47, Pensacola & Vicinity,

1864, with locations mentioned in Chapter I and II notated.

The second map is labeled Reddick's Ciuil War Travels. On it

you will find locations mentioned throughout the rest of the

book, making easy reference for the reader.

Karen Schansman
EorroR
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Introduction

Henry William Reddick fought through twenty-eight

battles during the Civil War. Seventy-Seven Years in Dixie is

his eye-witness account of his personal experiences as the

bloody war between the states was carried on for four

torturous years. When Reddick started writing his Civil War

memoirs forty-five years after the event, his eyesight began

to fail. So his daughter Ida wrote the first part with son

Walker finishing the project, all from his dictation.

According to early census reports, Henry Reddick was

the first child bom (June 16, 1833) to Thomas Wiggins

Reddick and his wife, Ursela Libbey Mobley. Henry was

described as being 5'8" tall, having light colored hair and

blue eyes. He enlisted in the Confederate States of America

on March 1, 1861 at the age of twenty-eight.

Henry's first wife (name unknown) bore him two

daughters, EUen (b. July 18, 1870 - d. January 31, 1950)

and Etta (b. September 6, 1873 - d. January 18, 1963). His

second wife, Elizabeth G. McCormick O'Neal (b. January 29,

1855), had tv/o children from her previous marriage, William

A. O'Neal (b. August 28, 1871) and Marcus Lafayette O'Neal

(b. August 2, 1872 - d. August 8, 1963). The story goes that

Henry was passing by the McCormick home on horseback on

his way to his sawmill and remarked to one of his employees

that he "saw a dam good-looking widow and he intended to

make a date with her."

-xiii-
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INTRODUCTION

Heniy and Elizabeth were soon wed and built a home in

Point Washington while adding eight more children to their

family. Jefferson Monroe Reddick (b. July 2, 1875 - d.

September 20, 1885), Henry TUden (b. August 8, 1877 - d.

November 29, 1920), Ida E. (b. April 6, 1879 - d, March 2,

1965), Annie Jeannette (b. April 11, 1881 - d. October 3,

1973), Millard Fillmore (b. December 10, 1884 - d. June 1,

1891), John H. (b. December 17, 1886 - d. December 6,

1974), Walker Homer, (b. March 5, 1889 - d. July 14, 1981),

and Guy (b. April 1, 1897 - d. April 6, 1897).

The Reddicks built a large home on Four Mile Point

(property now owned by Sandestin Resort) where the fEimily

would gather on the long front porch after supper and listen

to Mr. Reddick tell about the fierce battles in which he

fought. According to his son Walker, The story for the night

would be one that we had invariably heard him tell dozens

of times, but it would be as new to us heairing him tell it as

it was new to him to tell it."

In the early part of the twentieth century the Confederate

veterans would hold annual reunions in the large cities of

the South. Reddick attended every year, meeting old friends

and reminiscing about the battles they fought together.

In the late 1910s Henry and Elizabeth decided to live at

the "Old Soldiers' Home" in Jacksonville, Florida. It was

described as a lovely place with many kinds of shade trees

and old comrades of the Confederacy exchanging stories

about the Civil War. But Reddick soon got restless, so they

moved to Quincy, Florida, to be close to daughter Jeannette.

Elizabeth died there on January 11, 1924, with her devoted

husband passing away four months later on June 28, 1924.
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INTRODUCTION

Both are buried in Hatcher Cemetery west of Freeport,

Florida.

The foreword for the original publication was written by

A. P. Bjorklund, a character in his own right. Bom in

Sweden, Bjorklund immigrated to America in 1890 at the age

of seventeen by borrowing money from his family to pay for

his boat ticket. He made his way to Minnesota to be close to

relatives, but left after three years for Pensacola, Florida,

because of the cold winter weather. He taught himself

English from a dictionary and often pronounced words as

they were divided, i.e., com-for-ta-ble. Bjorklund was a

voracious reader, writer, and tinkerer. While living in

Freeport, Florida, he was the editor of the Freeport Observer,

the only socialist newspaper in Florida at the time. (The

Observer printed the original Seventy-Seven Years in Dixie

book.)

A December 17, 1908 article on Walton County's

newspapermen printed in the DeFuniak Herald quotes A. P.

Bjorklund as saying, "I was always of a rebellious

nature. . . . The church and state is united in Sweden, trying

to paste their old mildew-covered views on every individual

who accidentally happened to be bom in the country. I

rebelled against that order of things; and while yet only

twelve years old, resolved to leave Sweden just as soon as I

was able to do so. . . . [I] started the Observer in Freeport in

April 1906, and you all know the rest. Of course I am a

Socialist, and have been ever since I was writing rebellious

matter for the press in dear old Sweden. So there you are."

The reader might find it interesting that one of the two

thirty-pound cannons sent by General Braxton Gragg to W.

H. Reddick's regiment while it was stationed at Camp Walton

-XVI-



INTRODUCTION

is displayed in front of the Indian Temple Mound Museum in

Fort Walton Beach, Florida. In Chapter II, The Battle at East

Pass, Reddick states, "One was mounted upon a moiind near

the water's edge and pointed towards the little hill on the

island behind which the Yankees had placed their guns

when they fired on us in camp. The other never was

mounted, and when we evacuated the camp it was buried

about fifteen paces from the water's edge." This cannon was

saved from its sandy grave and donated to the City of Fort

Walton Beach by Frances and W. C. Brooks.

A historical marker next to the cannon states:

FORTWALTON
Originolly called Camp Walton, this Confederate

Installation, constructed in 1861 to guard Ekist Pass,

was garrisoned by a company ofFlorida militia called

the "Walton Guards. " Several small skirmishes with
federal landing parties occurred near here. The Camp
was abandonedfollowing the Confederate evacuation

of Pensacola and the garrison, a part of the First

Florida Infantry Regiment, was assigned to duty on
the Tennesseefront in early 1862.

Two local men mentioned in Reddick's book were William

Miller and Simeon Strickland. Bom in 1820, William Miller

commanded in the Battle of Perryville, Kentucky. On August

2, 1864, he was commissioned Brigadier General. At the end

of the war he returned to Point Washington, Florida, then a

part ofWashington County. General Miller is remembered for

donating the land for the Community Cemetery and

Methodist Church in town.

Simeon Strickland was also a Point Washington resident.

According to his daughter Julia, who was ninety-six when
interviewed in 1996, Strickland was a boy of sixteen when he
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INTRODUCTION

joined the Confederate Army. He was injured during the

Battle of Mobile Bay (August 5-23, 1864) and walked with a

slight limp until his death on January 10, 1910. Julia's

younger sister Helen, bom less than a year before her

father's death, still resides in the family home that her father

built in the 1890s.

H. W. Reddick elected to include seven Civil War poems

at the end of his recollections, some original pieces and

others selected by friends and family members. The first,

"The Good Old Confeds," was written by Walker, his

youngest surviving son. Walker was only twenty-one at the

time he wrote this poem. Sixty-six yeairs later Walker wrote

his own memoirs. This Is My Life, also reprinted by Coastal

Heritage Preservation Foundation, a branch of South Walton

Three Arts Alliance, Inc.

The second poem, "The Boys in Gray of *61 - '65," was

selected by ainother son, John. Ida Davis from Meridian,

Mississippi, penned "The Gray and Blue." Miss Davis later

married John Reddick but died a few years later along with

her newborn baby. "The Parting Volley" was selected by Lilla

Gunn of Santa Rosa, Florida. Lilla's father ran the hotel at

Santa Rosa, and Lilla had attended school at Point

Washington with Walker and John.

The sources for this introduction include Freeport

Archives, which researched the 1870, 1880, 1900, and 1910

Federal Bureau of the Census reports, 1885 Florida Bureau

of the Census report, and pension applications; Pioneers in

the Panhandle (1976) by William James WeUs; M. A.

Bjorklund of DeFuniak Springs, Florida, grandson of A. P.

Bjorklund; This Is My Ufe (1977) by Walker Homer Reddick
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INTRODUCTION

Sr.; March 1996 interview with Julia and Helen Strickland;

and Coastal Heritage Preservation Foundation archives.

Henry William Reddick s headstone
at Hatcher Cemetery west of Freeport, Florida.

Birth - June 16, 1833
Death - June 28, 1924

-XIX-
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Foreword to First Edition

Captain Henry W. Reddick is too well known to need any

introduction from me. His life work and history are part of

the history ofWalton and Washington Counties, Florida, and

the development of agriculture around the beautiful

Choctawhatchee Bay.

His active participation in the Civil War is vividly

illustrated within the pages of this book, and the history of

that epoch-making struggle would not be complete if Captain

Reddick had not put his experiences from the battlefield

down in black and white, and thus made it possible to

preserve it for coming generations.

Everybody interested in the history of the war should

read this book, everyone whose ancestors struggled for

victory on Dixie soil should read this book and keep it as a

memento from the past; young men who don't know what

war is should read this book and learn. It will teach a lesson

those fancy volumes, written in perfume-laden parlors, by

professional writers, at so much per word, never can teach.

All honors to those professionals, but they have not had the

experience of forced marches, starvation, exposure to rain,

cold, hunger and bullets of the men who shouldered the

musket and with their spirit fired by patriotism went to the

front to fight battles for which they received no pay, nor ever

expected to receive pay.



FOREWORD TO FIRST EDITION

They fought for principles, and if those principles were

wrong, it was because the teachings had been led into wrong

channels, not by the men of the field and forest but by the

parlor professional who lived upon the toil of the men at

work.

It is to be hoped that in the future the light of truth aind

justice will penetrate deep enough into the hearts of men, so

that struggles like those portrayed in this little volume will

not have to be repeated; that workers will not be arrayed

against workers; brothers against brothers in deadly combat

over something not tangible to either side, but that the

words "united we stand" will be engraved in the hearts of

men in a common united human brotherhood, for the peace

and prosperity and happiness of all mankind.

A. P. Bjorklund
Freeport, Florida

September 1910

-4-
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Chap. I

The Enlisting

'hen I first enlisted in the army of the Southern

Confederacy, it was for one year—in 1861—our

company was called the Walton Guards, on detached service,

guarding East Pass [Destin, Florida] and the Narrows [Ft.

Walton Beach), which had been bombarded by a United

States gunboat.

The first flag I saw hoisted calling for volunteers to go to

war was at old Eucheccinna, Florida. The ladies of the county

hoisted that flag and marched around old Eucheeanna and

made a direct appeal to each man in these never-to-be-

forgotten words: "Go, boys, to your country's call! I'd rather

be a brave man's widow than a coward's wife." To those loyal

women is due the honor that sixty of us volunteered that

bleak March day at old Eucheeanna.

In about a month we met again, org£inized and elected

our company officers—Billie McPherson, Captain; Chas. L.

McKinnon, 1st Lieutenaint; H. W. Reddick [author], 2nd

Lieutenant; A. B. McLeod, 3rd Lieutenant. We then

appointed the hour for moving to the front, bade farewell to

all who were near and dear to us, and designated the spot

from which to embark, which was Alaqua Creek, just below

Berry's little mill.

-5-
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SEVENTY-SEVEN YEARS IN DIXIE

The night before our departure we met at a little cottage

known as the Belcher Place, and I believe that nearly all the

people of Walton County were present to bid us farewell. We
danced all night, and as I was busying around it appeared to

me that everywhere I went I found horses and buggies

standing.

Next morning after breakfast, the program was to get on

board the schooner Lady ofthe Lake, which was lying in the

creek just below Berry's mill alongside the bank. We fell in

line and marched down to the schooner. The crowds of

people who had gathered to see us off followed us down to

the bank, and when leaving time came the scene was one

long to be remembered. Some were laughing, some were

crying and some were making speeches. The order was given

to get on board and we sailed down the Choctawhatchee

Bay, arriving at Gamier's Bayou [Ft. Walton] next day, but

stayed on board adl night and until after breakfast next

morning. The boys were feeding themselves and furnishing

their own guns and ammunition and were in high spirits.

After breakfast a detail of twelve men was sent ashore to

reconnoiter. They returned in about two hours, badly

frightened, with the report that they had found a horse tied

out in the woods. This was supposed to be a Yankee spy and

the Captain gave the order, "Boys, all hands on deck! Leave

your guns below and every man see that his shoes are well

tied!" At least that is the story told on him.

Another detail was made, this time of twenty-four men,

who were sent ashore and returned after a time with a man
and a horse, but the man was not a Yankee spy, but old Bob

Bell, who was charged with murder and was hiding from the

sheriff.

-8-



THE ENLISTING

The next day we sailed on down to the Narrows where a

site for the camp was selected, which was named Camp
Walton. We soon had the camp ground and drill grounds

cleared up and set to work building our houses, and in

about a week we were well fixed and had a jolly good time.

For about two weeks as I remember we furnished our

own rations and after that drew them from General [Braxton]

Bragg at Warrington Navy Yard [Pensacola]. We had nothing



SEVENTY-SEVEN YEARS IN DIXIE

but camp duty and drill to perform cind were there for over

a month before we were mustered into the service by an

officer sent up by General Bragg for that purpose. We were

mustered in for one year and signed the declairation of war.

10-



Chap. II

The Battle at East Pass

U.URING our stay at Camp Walton it was reported to

'Captain McPherson that a Yankee gunboat was lying

off at East Pass on blockade duty and that she was landing

troops there. This was reported to General Bragg at Ft.

Barrancas [west of Warrington Navy Yard] and he instructed

Captain McPherson to send a force over there and drive them

off. Under these instructions Captain McPherson ordered a

detail of forty men to go over there with the best guns we

had, which were long-range muskets. When the men were

lined up he gave them a little speech, and it must be

admitted that some of the boys turned white, for it was

known that this meant a fight and that at the time was a

new business to them. However, they were ready to go, but

when the matter was investigated, it was found that a part

of the men who had the muskets were on picket duty, and so

there were twelve of the force who were only armed with

shotguns.

We had a long-boat with twelve long oars or sweeps and

with these the boys pulled over to the head of Joe's Bayou

[Destin] and, disembarking, marched two miles through the

thick brush to the big red bluff opposite the pass where they

lay in ambush watching the enemy. From this point they

11-



SEVENTY-SEVEN YEARS IN DIXIE

saw two boats leaving the gunboat, one some little distance

in advcince of the other. Our boys waited until they were

within about 150 yards when the command wais given to fire,

and our boys poured in a volley which killed or wounded

nearly every man in the boat, but the wind blowing off-shore

drove the boat up on the island. A number of voUeys were

fired at the other boat but it was further off and not so much
damage was done to it.

It was the Yankees' turn next and the gunboat turned

her big guns loose in their direction, and Captain McPherson

ordered a retreat to the boat and back to Camp Walton

where the boys arrived without loss. We learned afterward

that every man in the first boat except two was either killed

or wounded, though some of our shotgun crowd told me that

they saw their buckshot strike the water far short of the

boat. I was on picket duty that day and did not get to go,

though of course, the boys had my best wishes.

On their return, the Yankees got their guns on the beach

and fired twenty-one shots at our schooner, Lady of the

Lake, which was bringing up our supplies and was becalmed

at the time and could not get out of the way. Lieutenants

Chas. L. McKinnon and A. B. McLeod and eight men were on

board of her at the time and, in addition. General William

Miller, who at that time had no command, not having been

mustered into the Confederate service. The men said that

when the shots began coming. General Miller got up on the

taffrail of the boat and shook his hat at them and gave them

the rebel yell, but others of the men got down in the hold of

the boat. Old Lee Ranier got behind the center case for better

protection and when things were quiet would stick his head

12-



THE BATTLE AT EAST PASS

up, but when another shot was heard would say, "Here

comes another," and dodge down again. Captain Madison

Reddick [author's brother—died at the Battle of

Chickamauga] was in command of the schooner, and when

a breeze sprang up, got out of range and then landed the

supplies on the mainland side.

We had good equipment that we had brought from home

and were enjojring ourselves finally until about eight or nine

months after our enlistment when one morning we were

startled by a cannon ball whistling over our heads. The

Yankees had brought up two guns from Ft. Pickens

[Pensacola] and had landed them on the outside beach and

placed them behind some small hills on the islands just

across the Narrows from us.

It was just at break of day, at which hour the rolls were

called each morning and the men were forming in line and

answering to their names, when they heard the roar of the

gun £ind heard the shot whistle over their heads. It was a

complete surprise and every man broke ranks and ran for

his shack. I was not in the ranks, as I had been on duty all

night and was in my shack sleeping and did not hear the

first shot. The men were divided into messes of seven and

eight men. Our brave little orderly sergeant was in my mess,

and when that first shot was fired, made for the shack where

I was sleeping and yelled that the Yankees were shooting at

us and for me to get up quick. 1 thought that he was teasing

me and while we were talking the second shot came, the ball

going through our house near the top and just over my head.

There was no more talking. I jumped up and began looking

for my pants and shoes, which I had a hard time finding.

13-



SEVENTY-SEVEN YEARS IN DIXIE

though I did so at last and ran outside, cind about that time

the third shot came and went through our houses. All the

men were running and dodging in every direction.

I had not yet gotten into my pants and shoes, and the

cannon balls were coming thicker and nearer every minute.

I finally got out of the range of the guns and got my pants

and shoes on, and the next thing I heard was Captain

McPherson calling for Lieutenant Reddick to help get the

men into line. After some time we rallied the men and got

them in line behind the little mound between us and the

water. The Yankees evidently could hear our voices, for they

dropped a cannon shell just behind our ranks, which caused

a general stampede, every man breaking for the hammock in

our rear and only a short distance away. There we rallied

again and formed our line in the thick woods in an old road

that led northward.

There Captain McPherson made a little tcdk to the men
and ordered every man who would not risk his gun to step

one pace to the rear, an order that about one-third of the

company, those armed only with old shotguns, obeyed. Just

as they stepped back, the Yankees got our range again and

sent another shell over our heads, and such a scattering

there was. Oeiy man for himself for over two miles when we

were brought up by the waters of Gamier's Bayou, all except

two or three who were reported to have swum the Bayou and

I know that two or three men did not report for three weeks

afterwards.

We camped on the bayou that night, the Captain placing

a heavy guard around the camp. During the night the guards

stationed below and above Camp Walton reported to Captain
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McPherson that the Yankees were crossing the Narrows in

small boats, but the report proved to be false, though it

frightened the whole community very badly at the time.

Next morning a small detachment was sent up in a small

boat to meet the schooner Lady Ann conmianded by Captain

Baker, who was bringing our mail over the Bay, and to direct

him to bring the Lady Ann into Gamier's. He arrived the next

day and we were ferried across the bayou and marched some

seven miles through the woods to Boggy Bayou

[Valparaiso/Niceville], when we struck camp again and

remained some three weeks, our commander in the

meantime notifying General Bragg of what had happened.

His orders were for us to return to Camp Walton and hold

that place at all hazards.
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These orders were obeyed, but we had a taste of Wcir.

After our panicky retreat Captain McPherson had ordered all

our houses burned, and when we got back to the old ground

we were without shelter of any kind for about three weeks

when General Bragg sent us some tents and two thirty-

pound cannons. One was mounted upon a mound near the

water's edge and pointed towards the little hill on the island

behind which the Yankees had placed their guns when they

fired on us in camp. The other never was mounted, and

when we evacuated the camp it was buried about fifteen

paces from the water's edge.

The engineer who superintended the mounting of the

gun was Dr. Chas. McKinnon, sergeant of our company. Not

a man nor an officer of our company of ninety-two men had

ever fired a cannon or stood near one when it was fired and

some of them had never seen or heard one. Some of the men
were drilled in the artillery tactics but were never called

upon to exercise their knowledge.

A short time after this we received orders from General

Bragg to report to the officers in command at Pensacola who

sent a steamboat up to a point about thirty-five miles below

our camp, and mules and wagons were sent by road to haul

our equipage down to that point. Our baggage was packed

up and we marched the thirty-five miles to the boat, which

took us to Pensacola. About three weeks later we had orders

to cook up two days' rations, and I was sent with a detail of

fifty men up the [Escambia] river to Bluff Springs [Florida],

about one hundred miles by water, with instructions to

obstruct the river behind us, which we did by cutting

cypress trees and falling them into the river. The rest of the

command marched to Bluff Springs destroying the railroad
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as they went. We rejoined them there and were with other

companies organized into the First Florida Infantry. We did

not stop here long, but during the time, many of our men
were sick and some of them died. Amongst these I remember

Calvin Lewis, Johnnie McDonald, Willie and Jessie Rooks,

who were members of our company (E).
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Chap. Ill

Actual Service - The Kentucky Campaign

.UR next move was to Chattanooga, Tennessee, where

'we saw the first of what the officers called actual

service. The first thing was to deposit all our surplus

baggage, and that meant everything we could not carry on

our backs, with a baggage master. We had a lot of such

things as feather pillows, quilts, cooking utensils, etc. We
were told that we would get it all back when we returned

from Kentucky, but never heard of it again. That was the last

of it.

Our next move was to cross the Tennessee F^ver, which

we did at night. We were ordered to go up and draw rations;

flour and bacon, but no salt, was what we got. The next

morning we started on Bragg's raid into Kentucky. The first

day's march was a short one and the first night we baked

our hoe-cakes on flat rocks. Some of the boys used their

ram-rods, rolling the leathery dough around them and

holding them over the fire to do the baking. There was no

salt or grease in them and they stuck without any trouble.

The cook wagons were behind and there was no telling when

they would come.

The next march was over the Blue Ridge, three miles to

the top, four miles across and three down to the valley on
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the other side. The road up was in the shape of a rail fence,

and it took from ten to fifteen men to the wagon to help the

mules up the hill with their loads.

It was on the mountain that Henry Wright and myself

shed a part of our load. I threw away a good feather pillow

and two quilts and I think Henry got rid of about the same

amount of stuff. I carried only one quilt and the best suit of

clothes I had, my knapsack and old haversack, and in it but

very little rations.

The next place was at Murphreesville (Murphreesboro)

[Tennessee - July 13, 1862], where General Bragg placed

some of his heaviest guns in position to command the town

and demanded its surrender, which was granted. The

Yankees surrendered six thousand prisoners, several

cannons besides a quantity of small arms and ammunition.

After a short stay here, we started for Bardstown

[Kentucky], with General Bragg hustling us through on a

forced march—^we on foot traveling almost as fast as the

cavalry could go. General [Don Carlos] Buell's [Federal] army

was marching on a road about ten miles west of us and

parallel with us and for several days we were in this position,

and it was there that General Bragg missed his opportunity

for victory in not giving battle. We reached Bardstown

without any fighting, and the Confederate flag was planted

on top of the courthouse.

Before this, however. Captain McLeod, Captain Coleman,

Lieutenant Nicholson, two lieutenants from Arkansas, and

myself had gotten our feet so severely blistered that we could

not march and were given permission to fall out of the ranks

and get along the best we could. Our feet were so sore that

we could hardly march at all, and for two days we hired an
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old farmer with a two-horse team to haul us. We had gotten

so far behind that we could not draw rations and had to

depend upon what we could get to eat along the road. We
drove up to the hotel in a little town called Glasgow

[Kentucky], cind expected to get a good dinner, as we were

very hungry, so we thought Lieutenant Nicholson went in to

order dinner for seven, but soon came back with the word

that there was nothing there. The landlord said that General

Bragg's army had just passed through and cleaned up

everything there was to eat in the town, but he said that if

we would go down the pike about two miles and call at a

large two-story white house, we could get dinner because a

rich widow lived there who had plenty.

We struck out for that place which we reached in due

time, and the crowd put it to me to see ifwe could get dinner

and I went in. I had to go back to the kitchen before I found

her, but when I did and told my wants she agreed with the

best humor to get dinner for us, but said we would have to

wait until it was cooked which would take about half an

hour. The boys were glad when I told them ofmy success, for

they were hungry enough to have eaten up the whole place.

The owner of the team unhitched his team and joined us at

the table while we were eating the splendid dinner the lady

had prepared for us. We were enjoying the dinner as only

hungry men can enjoy such a meal when we heard the

sound of horses coming down the pike from the direction of

Glasgow.

This did not pairticularly alarm us as we had just come

from that direction, and the landlady suggested that it was

probably her boy Johnnie, which it proved to be, for a few
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moments later he rushed into the dining room exclaiming,

"Mama, the Ycinkees are in Glasgow."

At the words wejumped up from the table, but she urged

us to sit down and finish our dinners sajang that possibly

Johnnie was mistaken, and we turned to our dinner again,

but had hardly seated ourselves before we heard the sound

of a large force of horsemen coming down the road, and, to

tell the truth, the Yankees were at the gate before we could

get out of the house. Some of the boys suggested that we go

upstairs and others that we go out the back way, aind in the

haste to get away we divided, three going upstairs and three

out the rear. Captains McLeod and Coleman and Lieutenant

Nicholson went upstairs and under the beds, where the
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Yankees found them and dragged them out by the heels.

Myself and the Arkansas lieutenants made our way for the

woods about two hundred yards away, having to climb over

two fences on the way, or rather falling over them. The

Yankees saw us before we got to the woods and commenced

firing at us, but with no other effect than to increase the

speed of our leg action. As we fell over the second fence we

fell down and watched the Yankees march our friends off

and saw the old farmer drive off with all our baggage.

We had left our hats in the house and were bare-headed.

We kept in the woods for two days and one night and with

nothing to eat. It seemed to us that every road was full of

Yankees. The second night we went to a farmhouse and got

something to eat, and on the morning of the third day

caught up with the army and joined our command.

The army stopped at Bardstown for some time, and our

Florida brigade was placed on picket duty some six miles out

on the Bardstown and Louisville Pike, and while there we got

pumpkins to eat. During this time I was taken sick with a

severe fever and was sent to the hospital in Bardstown,

where I found a good many of our soldiers laid up for

repairs. —
It WcLS only a few days before General Buell commenced

advancing and Bragg fell back to Perryville [Kentucky -

October 8, 1862] without offering any resistance, leaving the

sick to be taken prisoners, and among them was Captain

McPherson and myself. At Perryville Bragg joined General

Kirby Smith with about twelve thousand men and made a

stand against Buell, and our boys who were wounded and

captured there said that while Bragg put up a good fight,

Buell outnumbered him so badly that he had no chance. My
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room was in the third story of the Female Academy, which

was used for a hospital, and it fronted on the street so that

I saw Buell's army as it passed through, taking nearly two

days to do so. 1 counted 110 flags and estimated one

thousand men to the flag. The wounded captured at

Perryville were sent to the hospital at Bardstown, and there

many of them died.

We fared very well while our army was in Bardstown, but

after it was captured by the Yankees things were bad indeed.

While our army was there the ladies visited us and did

everything they could for us, but when the Yankees came in,

this was not allowed. If it had not been for the Sisters of

Charity we would have fared much worse. They did

everything they could for us, and I for one will never forget

their kindness.

It was about three weeks before I was able to walk

around any. One time after I got up, Captain McPherson and

I walked down in the town, which was full of Yankees. I had

a very fine gold hunting case watch that I had when I

enlisted and of which I thought a great deal. A big, double-

jointed Yankee stepped up to me and asked to see my watch.

I took it off and handed it to him and he put it in his pocket

and walked off, sajong that he would see me again, which he

never did, but I often wish he had.

After Captain McPherson and myself got strong enough

to walk, we were paroled. We wanted to go south, of course,

but this the Yankees would not allow, but gave us

permission to go north as far as we wanted to. About a week

after this we were sitting in the sun one day warming

ourselves and talking ofhome and homefolks. A fine carriage

drove up and a well dressed man got out and, seeing by our

-25-



SEVENTY-SEVEN YEARS IN DIXIE

uniforms that we were Confederate soldiers, introduced

himself as Reverend Mr. Beardsley of the Methodist Church.

He assured us of his sympathy and gave us two bottles of

fine Catawba wine which he had in his cairriage. He offered

to take us to Louisville [Kentucky], but we told him that we

did not have any Yankee money. He then said that he would

take us to the United States Hotel there, and that there were

plenty of Southern people who would see that our board was

paid

We told him that we would be glad to go, and he said for

us to be ready at noon and you may be sure that we were.

He was on time and getting in his fine carriage behind his

high-stepping horses, we were soon hitting the rocky pike in

the direction of Lx)uisville where we arrived soon after

sundown. On the way we passed through a large cemetery,

and all along the road near the town Yankee pickets were

posted thick.
^

We drove up to the United States Hotel where the

preacher left us for a few moments while he arranged for our

rooms, which were on the third story. We remained there for

three weeks and in that time wanted for nothing. I think we

only saw him once after this, however.

This was some days later when he gave us an invitation

to go with him to visit one of his old lady friends and church

members. We accepted provided he would go with us, which

he agreed to do and called for us that night at seven. Going

down the street it seemed to me that 1 had never seen

buildings so large and high. At the steps of the house where

we went, we were met by four or five young ladies and

invited into the sitting room, and soon the old lady came in,

but her name I do not remember. She was a great talker and
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soon got started. She said that she had always wanted to see

a Confederate soldier and this was her first opportunity.

I think that she had the same idea about us that some

of the people in the far South had about the Ycinkees. I

remember once when working on the roads near Sugar

Valley in Georgia, being asked by some young ladies if I had

ever seen a genuine Yankee soldier. When I said that I had,

they asked what they looked like and if they were blue. I told

them no, but that they wore blue clothes and that we called

them "blue-bellies" when by ourselves, but when on picket

near one another they called us Johnny Rebs and we called

them Mr. Yanks.

During our visit with the young ladies that night we

enjoyed ourselves to the utmost, though I believe Captain

McPherson enjoyed himself better than I did. The young

ladies were well-educated and used big words that I did not

know the meaning of, though he did, for he was a young

lawyer who had enlisted from our county. I think that his

grammar helped him out that time. We remained until about

ten o'clock when we were escorted back to the hotel by Mr.

Beardsley, and this was the only visit we made while in

Lx)uisville.

Both the Captain and I were great smokers and used lots

of matches, and on our return to the hotel I suggested that

we go into the office, which was on the ground floor, and ask

for some matches. The office was full ofYankee officers, and

we crowded through up to the desk and asked for some

matches. The clerk soon brought us a box which we did not

open untfl we reached our room, and when we did so we
found a twenty-dollar bill tucked in on top of the matches

which the clerk had placed there for us.
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One morning after this we walked down the street and on

every side people would stop and stare at us. We went into

a dry goods store, wearing our uniforms with the brass

buttons on which was stamped the motto, "United We
Stand," which marked us as Confederate officers. The

proprietor was a Southern sympathizer and was very glad to

see us, and when we left he gave us fourteen yards of

Confederate gray cloth for new uniforms, which we managed

to smuggle through the lines and bring back to Dixie with

us.

The next morning the Captain went down and got our

biU, which was Kentucky State currency, changed. After that

we would send out by the boys from the street who often

came up to see us, for such things as we wanted to eat, and

they always treated us right and were honest with us.

Our meals were our worst trouble. We had plenty to eat

and three meals a day, but the dining room was on the first

floor and was always full ofYankee officers. The tables were

round, seating four, and we always tried to get one where

there was no one else. Sometimes we were successful, but

often Yankee officers would come to our table and sit and

eat. Some of them were agreeable, while others were rude

and insulting, cursing the South and the people as rebels

and traitors. Dinner was from twelve to three but we always

ate as quickly as possible and went back to our rooms. We
were there three weeks to a day when one morning an officer

came up to our room, seemingly very much pleased at

something, and after a few words said, "Gentlemen, I have

orders for you to report down to Colonel Farrell's office at the

prison."
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Thinking that we were to be sent South the Captain and

I were highly pleased, and asked if we should take our little

grips with us, and he told us to do so. We were ready in a

few moments and went downstairs where we found a hack

with two soldiers as guards with fixed bayonets. We were

ordered in the hack with little ceremony and, obeying, were

driven about two miles to Colonel Farrell's headquarters and

given orders to report to him in his office. When we entered

he was seated at his desk, writing, and when we said good

morning, did not even look up. Presently he gave an order for

the sergeant to take our description, which he did,

measuring our heights and around us with a tape line and

making a note of our complexions and hair, etc. He next

searched us, going through our grips and over our persons,

taking everything except our clothes, even to a few apples we

had. The sergeamt was then instructed to take us down to

the prison, which he did, and when we reached the gate, told

us to walk in. This cut our feathers considerable, but we felt

better when we found so many of our boys there. All told

there were about sixteen hundred Confederate prisoners

there. Colonel Farrell was about the most contemptible

specimen I have ever met and why he was so mean to us I

have never been able to understand, even taking our apples

and pocket knives. For three weeks we had been at the hotel

mingling with the Yankee officers every day, eating in the

dining room and often at the same table, and yet when they

sent us down to the prison we were sent with two armed

guards.

The prison fare was considerable of a change to us. At

the hotel we had plenty, but here we got a piece of bakery
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bread, about as wide as three fingers and as long, and a

piece of fat boiled pork about two-thirds that size twice a day

with half a tin cup of coffee in the morning. The table where

our rations were set out for us was in another room. We
passed through a door in single rank and marched by the

table, picking up our bread as we went along and then out

through another door. A strong guard was placed in the

room to see that no one got more thcin his share. The

weather was very cold and we were allowed but one heater to

one hundred men and a very short allowance of wood.

We were kept here about two months, when one morning

we were ordered to fall in preparatory to going South, and we

were glad indeed to hear it. After we fell into ranks at the

gate, an officer told us that we would be marched directly

through the city and that possibly handkerchiefs would be

waved at us from some of the windows or galleries and

warned us that any one cheering them would be shot down

on the spot.

We were formed in single rank formation, our blankets

and knapsacks searched, and then formed in ranks eight

deep and were marched through town to the river bank, a

distance of about two miles. Here the steamer Mary Miller

was waiting for us. Coming through town we could see

handkerchiefs waving at us from nearly all the larger

buildings. While we were standing on the bank one of our

boys saw a handkerchief waving at his part of the ranks and

hallooed for Dixie and the guard shot him down like a dog.

Sixteen hundred and eleven of us were marched on board,

and we started down through the locks of the Ohio [River] on

our way, as we thought, to Dixie. The next day, a good

distance down the river and near the town of Evansville on
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the Indiana side, we ran aground on a sand bar, and as

many of the prisoners as was necessary to lighten the boat

were sent ashore in small boats. About three o'clock the

Mary Miller was afloat again and we were marched back on

board, and our journey was resumed. The next night when
we were near Columbus and it was dark as pitch, I was

asleep when a cannon ball whistled over the boat. By the

time I got awake another one came along and everything was

excitement. Some of our men thought that the Yankees were

trying to sink the boat with us prisoners on, but we soon

found out that the Captain had given the wrong signal and

this had brought the fire on us from the Fort. We remained

there until the next morning, when the Captain was arrested

and taken ashore and another officer placed in charge.

He was a hard case and treated us "traitors," as he called

us, as mean as he possibly could. We left about nine o'clock

and steamed on down to the mouth of the Ohio to Cairo

[Illinois], where we landed and marched a short distance up

the street, where we were ordered into company front, and

every prisoner who had a blanket marked "U.S." or a blue

overcoat was directed to step to the front and put these

articles on the ground. This brutal order left about half of us

without either blainket or overcoat and the weather was

bitter cold. We were then marched about two miles to an old

barracks and placed under Negro guards, in whose camps

were a number of cases of smallpox.

For two months we were kept here on short rations and

the sufferings of all our men—particularly the large number
of those who were still suffering from the wounds received at

Perryville—^were terrible. Little to eat and nothing to either

sleep on or cover with. Go to bed hungry and cold and get up
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the same way, Cairo prison will always be remembered by

me. Little did we think when we enlisted for three years for

the war and left all who were dear to us that this was what

we were coming to. Many and many were the desires that

were expressed to get back home to wives, mothers and

sweethearts.

One day about fifty of us old rebel prisoners were sitting

out in the sun warming ourselves when a strange officer

came up and directed us to be ready at two o'clock to go

South. This news was so good that it put new life in every

one of us, and we were ready before the hour. The gates were

thrown open and we were marched down to the [Mississippi]

river and got on board a big three-deck river steamer by the

name of Mary Downing, and started again for Dixie. There

were over sixteen hundred of us on board and over five

hundred of those were wounded from Perryville. We stairted

about four o'clock with an old ironclad steamer just ahead

of us. I think that we were nineteen days on board of her

making the trip. We had plenty of rations, good bacon and

flour and coffee, but the trouble was that we had no place to

do any cooking. We ate the meat raw and only occasionally

could we get the firemen to allow us to make coffee on the

boilers.

One deck of the steamer was given up to the wounded

and a visit there was enough to sicken anyone. The poor

boys suffered horribly, there was no way nor anyone to dress

their wounds, and fifty-five of them died before we reached

Vicksburg [Mississippi]. When one died his body would be

rolled up in his blanket and nailed up in a rough pine box.

The steamer would slow down for a few minutes and the

-32-



ACTUAL SERVICE - THE KENTUCKY CAMPAIGN

body would be taken ashore and buried on the bank of the

river.

One day as we were steaming down the river we were

fired on by a force of about five-hundred guerrillas from the

Missouri side. They had dismounted and run down to the

river side and turned loose two or three volleys at us. The

ironclad ahead of us rounded up and fired two or three of

her big guns in their direction and they retreated up the hill

in double-quick time and in bad order. I do not know

whether they were firing at us prisoners or the Yankee

guards. None of our boys were hurt, though a good many of

the bullets struck the wheelhouse, and I heard that one of

the guards, who was standing aft, was killed. All that we

rebs could send back at them was our old charging yell.

Soon after this our boat got aground and stayed three

days. Our next excitement was when the boat got afire and

came near burning up, together with her captain. He let his

bedding catch fire one night about ten o'clock, and a number

of our Confederate officers ran up and threw the bedding

overboard and came near throwing the captain with it. The

army officer in command seemed to think it a good joke on

the captain of the boat.

There were about three hundred Confederate officers on

the boat. When we reached Memphis we made a stop of

about three hours, but the steamer was not allowed to land

but was kept off some thirty yards from shore. A large crowd

of ladies was on the banks and they had apples and cigars

for us but were not allowed on board to give them to us, but

they would tie small rocks to cigars and throw them aboard.

Some reached us and others fell short and fell in the river.
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About a dozen of our boys got on the upper deck and sang

the old southern songs in spite of the repeated orders of the

Yankee officers to stop. The ladies on shore would wave their

handkerchiefs and throw kisses to us, that is, to those they

knew, for there were a good many on board who had friends

and relatives on shore but the best they could do was to

exchange greetings at a distance.

Our next stop was four miles above Vicksburg, where the

iron clad rounded up and blew her whistle, which was

£inswered by that of a Confederate steamer coming for us. It

was over three hours before she came in sight around the

bend of the river, about a mile away. She WcLS soon alongside

and we were ordered to go on board of her. A heavy guard

was placed along the side and every one was searched to see

that he carried off nothing that was not his. Some of our

boys who had been sick had saved up their bacon and had

as much as fifteen or twenty pounds, and rather than give it

back to the Yankees they threw it overboard. The transfer

was soon made and the lines loosened and we, as happy a

lot of men as ever lived, were on our way to the Confederate

lines in Vicksburg, where we arrived after dark. Our

instructions were to march to the depot about a half a mile

away and I think that Captain McPherson and I, who got

separated from the rest of the boys, walked the whole

distance on molasses barrels. We were to get rations at the

depot, and when we arrived there we found some of the boys

getting theirs.

Captain McPherson and myself did not draw any rations,

as we had saved up those which we had gotten from the

Yainkee steamer, but all the other boys and the wounded

drew rations such as they were, consisting principally of
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pones of combread and canteens of molasses. That was the

largest pile of combread I ever saw in my life.

We went to the depot and got in the box cars ready to go

to Jackson [Mississippi]. The conductor came around and

wanted our transportation orders and we told him that we

were just from Yankeedom and had none. He said that we

would have to get off, and we said that we would not and got

up considerable of a row, but when the other boys and the

wounded began to come in, he changed his tune. We soon

pulled out for Jackson, fifty-six miles distant, where we

arrived at daylight. As soon as we landed Captain McPherson

and myself made for a hotel to get something to eat, but

failed and came back to the depot. By this time all the

wounded had been unloaded and were lying around, but

with no one paying any attention to them.

We bid them good-bye and took the train for

Chattanooga. We had been told at Vicksburg that we would

be regularly exchanged, but when we arrived at Chattanooga

we found that it was mistake and we were sent to the parole

camps. I have often wondered what became of the poor

wounded we left at Jackson but I have never been able to

learn. We were kept in the parole camps for some time and

then given leave of absence to go home, and this was the

only time I was at home during my four yeairs of service.

This is the end of the story of the Kentucky campaign.
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The Mississippi Campaign
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Bwish to give an account of the Mississippi campaign when

our division under General [John Cabell] Breckinridge was

ordered to reinforce General [Joseph E.] Johnston, who was

trying to get in [Ulysses S.] Grant's rear and help General

[John C] Pemberton out of Vicksburg, where he was

besieged.

We took the train at Bridgeport,

Tennessee, and went to Mobile

[Alabama] and from there to

Jackson, Mississippi, where

we were ordered to draw three

days' rations and put on the

road leading to Black River.

While we halted there some

of the paroled prisoners from

Pemberton's army came along

and told us that Vicksburg

had surrendered the day before

[July 4, 18631. We had to get

pontoon bridges across the river,

and, in order to do so, it was necessary to get a line across

and volunteers were called for. The first one to step forward
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was Captain Simeon Strickland, then a beardless boy of

eighteen or nineteen years, and he swam the river with the

line and fastened it to the other side. He, nor anyone else,

knew what danger there was ahead of him, but he did not

stop on that account, but bravely did the duty for which he

had volunteered.

When we heard that Vicksburg had surrendered we were

put back on the road to Jackson, a distance of fifty miles.

We marched all day, suffering terrible for water—after we left

the rivers there was no water to be had except from mud
holes. Our division was sent off on a settlement road to head

off a Yankee regiment of cavalry which it was reported was

trying to get around in our rear. The day was a terrible, hot

day and we were sent on the double-quick for two or three

miles. When we got to a stopping place we found that it was

a false alarm and not more than a third of our men were left,

the rest having fallen out from the intense heat. General

Breckinridge himself came near fainting from the heat, and

him on horseback.

We got back to Jackson that night at twelve o'clock and

fell down under some old shelters and went to sleep. Before

morning a terrible rain came up and the flood almost floated

me out into the street. The next morning we threw our lines

siround the town and went to building breastworks behind

which we were to receive Grant's army.
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Chap. V

The Battle of Jackson, Mississippi

'e remained in our entrenchment for two days before

Grant's airmy arrived. As soon as our breastworks

were completed our brave Captain Saxon was sent out with

the skirmish line. Sunday morning [July 7, 1863] at nine

o'clock we commenced to hear the muskets fire from both

sides and soon Captain Saxon was forced to fall back and

join the main line behind the breastworks. As soon as our

skirmish line had joined us behind the breastworks we could

see the Yankee army in four lines of battle advancing on us.

Our forces had planted a battery of three cannons in our

rear and opened a heavy fire over our heads into the

advancing Grant's army, and every time a shell would plow

through the Yankee lines it would leave an open street which

they immediately closed up and continued to advance.

Our boys were anxious to repulse the advancing Yankee

forces but the command was given, "Hold your fire, boys,

hold your fire." And we did hold our fire until the Yankees

were within eighty or ninety yards of our entrenchment, then

we opened fire on them with telling effect, we made it so hot

for them that they were thrown into complete confusion.

They tried to re-form their lines and utterly failed in their
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efforts. During the skirmish two of the Yankee flag bearers

ran up on our breastworks and we captured their flags.

Then we were ordered to jump the breastworks and

follow the retreating Yankees. We followed them for a mile

down the road.

As we went through the woods we came upon a Yankee

soldier with one leg and one arm shot off but still alive amd

begging for water, but our canteens were empty and none of

us had any to give him. It was hard indeed to see a man
suffer so and not be able to relieve him with so much as a

drink of water, but such is war.

The night we evacuated Jackson we fell back towards

Pearl River, and when we came to the bridge we found that

torpedoes had been placed in the road with guards to tell our

men to bear to the right so as to miss them, and you may be

sure that we kept well away in that direction. When we got

a chaince we dropped down and went to sleep, but were

awakened by a terrible rattling. The men jumping up in their

sleep hallooed that the Yankee cavalry was coming and three

men ran over me and knocked me down and almost broke

my arm, but the noise proved to be a team running away

with an ambulance. The Grant army did not follow us any

further than Brandon [Mississippi], and there we took the

train for Chattanooga.

I can not close these reminiscences without a word of

praise for Captain Saxon of our Company E, who was one of

the best skirmish commanders in the Confederate Army. He

was in commaind of our skirmish lines at Jackson and also

at the bloody battle at Frainklin, and in both places proved

his bravery and capability, winning the highest praise from
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the commanding officers. Middle Florida sent no braver or

more competent man to the front thcin Captain Saxon, and

I hope that he is still alive and may read these lines so that

he will know that some of those who were under him and

saw him in action still remember him.
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Chap. VI

The Battle of Missionary Ridge

1[r shall never forget the hard fight at Missionary Ridge

[[[Chattanooga] nor the suffering of our men in the trenches

before the battle for some three or four weeks. We had no

tents and had to use our blankets stretched over poles to

keep off the cold rains, and as few of our men had more than

one blanket, their sufferings were intense. I have heard the

men in Virginia complain of the cold there, but I am sure

that it was no worse than that in front of Lookout Mountain.

We were kept on the alert for three or four weeks before the

fight came off, and you could hear the boys praying amd

wishing for the fight to come if it was coming, anything to

get out of the suspense and suffering caused by lack of

rations and shelter.

Our line stretched along the foot of Missionary Ridge and

across the valley to the foot of Lookout Mountain, a distance

of about twenty miles. Our picket line was in rifle pits about

a hundred yards in advance of the main line and another

hundred yards in advance of this was our vidette line in rifle

pits cdso, but these could only be visited by night to bring

relief on account of the proximity of the Yankee. Between

them and our men a constant fire was kept up all day and

even at night, and even the pickets had to keep low to be out
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of range. At night the only fire allowed was a few coals over

which to warm their fingers and toes, for the slightest light

would bring a musket ball in that direction, and the flashing

of the muskets from both lines during the night made a

grand sight if it were not for the fact that every flash meant

a bullet, many of which found a billet in the body of some

poor soldier.

The last night we were on the line it was very dark, and

about three o'clock in the morning, while on vidette duty, I

came near crawling into the Yankee lines, getting so close

that I could hear a Yankee guard clear up his throat. I halted

and got my bearings and crawled back to the pit I had just

left. While warming my fingers over the few coals the men
had in the pit, one asked if I did not hear the Yankees

beating their coffee in their tin cups with their bayonets. One

of our men by the name of Stockwell sung out to the

Yankees and said, "You must be preparing an early

breakfast?" To which the Yankees replied, "We are coming

over to see us you Johnny Rebs today." That word "Johnny

Reb" will never be forgotten by me.

I got back to my place in the line which was at the foot

of Missionary Ridge, and just as day began to break

[November 25, 1863] we could hear the Yankee officers giving

the commands getting their men in line, though the

underbrush was so thick that we could not see them. But

soon after daylight they got a battery in position and began

firing on us, though but little damage was done, as they

were shooting too high. Soon we could see the heavy lines of

battle of the Yankees advancing at a distance and it seemed

as if the woods were alive with them, and we could see the

officers dashing up and down their lines on their horses.
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About this time our batteries in the rear of our line and

further up the Ridge opened fire on them with shells, but it

did not stop their advance, and shortly after, the musketry

fire of our picket lines falling back could be heard, and there

was heavy cannonading on both sides. About seven o'clock

we could hear heavy firing on our right. By this time the

Yankees were not more than two hundred yards in front of

our lines, and we were ordered to open fire on them with

musketry, which we did, making it so hot for them that after

a while they retreated, but re-formed their lines and again

advanced. We drove them back the third or fourth time, with

dreadful loss every time, but they kept coming, and about

three in the afternoon we got orders to fall back to the top of

the Ridge. We had never given an inch and why we were

ordered back I never knew unless the line on the right of us

had given away. There had been heavy artillery fire all the

time, but our big guns had been doing but little damage,

shooting too high all the time. When we started up the Ridge

the Yankees made it as hot for us as we had done for them

before, and many of our men went down.

Our ammunition had been about exhausted when we

were at the foot of the hill, but when we reached the top,

sixty rounds additional were issued to the man, and when

the Yankees charged us again we were ready and drove them

back again aind again. But the first thing we knew they came

up behind cliffs and rocks and there was a hand-to-haind

fight—^Ycinkees and our men mixed up together. We were

forced to retreat down the hill and it was there that our men
were slaughtered, several of our boys being killed near me.

About this time General Bragg and his staff dashed by on

their horses and one of them yelled to us, "Give them hell.
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boys," and just tlien one of them was shot from his large

cream-colored horse, which ran off down our side of the hill.

General Bragg was a brave old soldier even if he wais a tyrant

to his men. We had two flag bearers shot down and the third

time General Braggjumped from his horse and picked up the

flag himself. Just as he mounted again, a lone soldier from

the Third Florida ran up and took the flag from him and

carried it safe to the rear.

When the Yankees broke our lines

the order was given to retreat, but

the men were retreating without

orders, all of them that were

not kept as prisoners by the

Yankees, and there was a lot

of them. As we ran down the

hill, one of our boys, Eph

Lassiter, cried to me,

"Lieutenant, I am killed." At

the bottom of the hill we

halted for a moment and I

looked at his wound and told

him that he was not killed. A piece

of shell had struck him on the

shoulder and tore away a piece of flesh as large as a man's

hand. He was losing blood very rapidly. I do not know

whether he died or not, but I have never seen him since.

When we reached the bottom of the hill we came to the

little bridge across the Chickamauga River, and there was a

mix-up of men, artillery, ambulances and wagons, all trying

to cross the river at once. The infantry was held back,

though, and others allowed to go ahead.
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We were ordered to fall in on a road leading down toward

Dalton, Georgia. We had marched about half a mile when we

came to a big pile of rations by the side of the road and were

ordered to halt and fill our empty haversacks, which we were

glad enough to do for we had fought all day with nothing to

eat. Some got flour and some meal and some meat and some

got no meat and some got sjrrup. My tent mate got a good

piece of meat for himself and me. Some of the boys rolled out

what they supposed to be a barrel of syrup and knocked the

head in, when it proved to be a barrel of soft soap. Generally

we were glad to get soap and have a wash day, but there was

no time for tliis now. Of course, the rations were raw and we

had no time to cook them as we were marched all night still

hungry and tired—so tired that for my part I slept marching

along. There was a large quantity of the rations left and

some cavalry men told me that General Bragg had it burned,

but he always did bum more rations than he gave his

soldiers. The next morning we halted about sunrise, and our

hungry men soon found the brigade wagon and got our cook

pots and we cooked and ate once more.

While we lost the battle we had the satisfactory of

knowing that we did not give an inch of ground except at the

point of the bayonet and that the Yankees paid dearly in

blood for every foot of ground they got from us. General

Bragg was relieved soon afterward by General Joseph E.

Johnston and we went in winter quarters near Dalton. I did

not get much rest for I was sent down to Sugar Valley with

a squad of about one hundred to build roads. The work was

hard and regular but I had a good time all the same and so

did most of the men. The young ladies there gave us a big

Christmas dinner and dance.
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I formed the acquaintance of two young ladies out in the

country and one night wanted to go and see them and

wanted to borrow the Captain's horse, but he was lame so I

was given permission to ride £in army mule. I left about dark

and had gone but a short distance when I came to a ditch

which I thought the mule would step over, but instead she

jumped about ten feet and I landed on my head about ten

feet ahead of her. I got up, brushed off the mud and

remounted, and in due time arrived at the home of the

young ladies where I had a very good time and might have

had a better one if it had not been that there were two other

soldiers there. About ten o'clock I left and started back. It

was dark, so dark that I could not see the mule and soon

found myself on the wrong road. The mule stopped and I

could not see what the trouble was, but dug in my big

cavalry spurs and when the mule brought up she was at the

bottom of a railroad cut and it was early next morning when

I got into camp.
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Chap. VII

The Hundred Days Battle

T^HE great campaign of North Georgia, known as the One

Hundred Days Battle, was fought by the Confederate

Army of Tennessee under the command of the great and

heroic General Joseph F. Johnston. They were confronted by

the Federal army under command of General [William T.]

Sherman, who had over 100,000 valiant soldiers.

After our army had remained in and around Dalton for

several months in what was known as winter quarters,

General Sherman began to advance from Chattanooga, and

we were put on the march to meet his advance. I think our

direction was north from Dalton, and it was but a few days

before we could hear the fire at a distance of the heavy

cannons.

The Federals were advancing rapidly and our work of

fighting and throwing up breastworks soon commenced. If 1

remember right, our first fighting was at Rocky Face

Mountain on May 12, 1864, and then for one hundred days

it was a gradual retreat for the army of General Johnston.

We would hold General Sherman's army in check all day,

and as soon as night fell would evacuate our positions, fall

back eight or ten miles, and then get the order to get our

spades and dig rifle pits and pile logs for breastworks. By
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daylight we would be ready for the Yankees, and they rarely

failed to come, either. Work all night and fight all day was

our rule for the hundred days, but there was one good

feature about it and that was that we had plenty of rations.

General Johnston looked after the commissary much better

thcin General Bragg.

At Resaca [Georgia - May 13-15, 1864] we had a severe

battle and there we lost two of the brave boys from our

company while crossing the bridge under a heavy fire of

sheU, grape and canisters. It was here that General Johnston

came near getting his army in the nine hole, but his good

generalship saved him, and he succeeded in getting his army

safely across the bridge. He was too foxy for Sherman.

We had another hard fight at New Hope Church [Georgia]

on May 25^ and 26^, where our Florida brigade lost half its

number in killed, wounded and taken prisoners. On the

evening of the 28^ our brigade was ordered to charge upon

the Yankee works. The order was to jump our breastworks

and charge the Yankee lines at the signal of a cannon fired

on our left. About four o'clock the signal came, and the order

"Attention" came from our Colonel D. A. McLean. Just as he

sprang on the breastworks to give the command, a minie ball

struck him squarely in the forehead and he dropped back in

the trenches. The command was taken up by our major and

over we went to the command, "Forward, guide center, quick

time march!" I suppose we had gone about three hundred

yards when we could see a lot of newly cut brush, and from

behind it there rose the Yankees in three or four ranks. I

know it seemed to me that the air was blue with their

uniforms. As they rose they fired volley after volley into our

single line of battle, and we returned the fire, but soon had
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to fall back, leaving over half our men killed, wounded or

prisoners of the field. Many of our best men were lost there

and are now sleeping there under the oaks of North Georgia.

The charge and the loss of our men there was useless,

for the order had been countermanded, but the courier by

whom the order was sent failed to reach us in time to stop

the charge. We buried our dead that night after dark and a

sad job it was. I helped to bury one of my closest friends.

Lieutenant Cobb of Company D. He was hit near the

shoulder in the back as we were retreating towards the

works.

There was an old widow lady living in the rear of our

breastworks who had a fine lot of bacon, which she asked us

to bury to keep the Yankees from getting it. We dug a hole

about the size of a grave and put the meat in it with some

boards on top of it and then filled in the dirt, placing a head

and foot board up to make it look more like a grave.

That night we slipped out and

marched ten or twelve miles

toward Atlanta, and then began

again the work of building

breastworks without any rest

or sleep.

Thus it went, fight and

fall back and throw up

breastworks until near

Atlanta, when the war

department made the sad

change fi-om General Johnston

to General [John B.] Hood. All

the officers and men loved
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Johnston and none of us believed that had he been kept in

command that Sherman would have made his famous radd

through Georgia. But as soon as Hood was placed in

command he put us to fighting one against five in the open

field.

Our first fighting experience under him was the charge

we made in the evening at Peach Tree Creek [July 20, 1864]

near Atlanta. We kept up this fighting until Sherman got a

part of his army around in our rear when we had to fall back

from Atlanta to Jonesboro [Georgia]. I well remember the

night we left Atlanta and marched all night in heavy

marching order, reaching Jonesboro eighteen miles distcint

just at daylight, and met Sherman's soldiers there at the

railroad and went to fighting for its possession. Our division

soon got orders to fall back and build breastworks of fence

rails, but when the Yankees turned their artillery loose at us

the flying rails killed and wounded more than the shells from

the Yankees. None of the officers had the faith in Hood that

they had in Johnston and none believed that the change

should have been made.

1 was on duty during the whole hundred days and never

lost a day during the whole time.

-50-



Chap. VIII

The Battle OF July 22^

.URING the siege of Atlanta Generals Pat Cleburne's and

'Frank Cheatham's corps were sent around to attack

Sherman's extreme right. We marched through the streets of

Atianta about dark on the night of the 21^' ofJuly [1864] and

kept going all that night, marching twenty miles without a

minute for rest or sleep. About daylight we were halted and

the command was given, "In place, rest." We fell down on the

ground, every man with his gun in his hand, and soon fell

asleep. I presume we were there about an hour when we

U
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were awakened by the command "Attention" and formed in

line of battle. Some of the field officers were dashing up and

down in front in the lines and the boys, though tired and

sleepy, were in good spirits and laughed about going into it

so early.

When we moved in line of battle we left the road we had

come on from Atlanta and marched through the woods. After

about a quarter of a mile we came to a rail fence and the

order was to go over it and keep our lines intact. We did the

best we could, and, after halting a moment to straighten

them, we went on, the orders being given in low tone and

with directions to the men not to speak above a whisper. We
went through a large field of com and out on the other side

over another rail fence and into the thick woods, still keeping

a good line, however. About 150 yards further on we came to

a ravine about as wide as we could jump and over that we

went, and then the command was passed to double-quick,

and as we got to the top of a little hill we went into the

Yankees' Ccimp. Some of them were just getting out of bed

and we fired a couple of volleys and then they surrendered,

some of them in their night clothes. We captured all their

tents, guns and wagons, but they were soon reinforced and

we were compelled to retreat, but got back to Atlanta with

about two hundred prisoners.

A Georgia brigade under General Jackson was on our

right, and in crossing the ravine they got mixed up and the

General was riding up and down the line hallooing, "Good

Lord, where is my brigade?" If it had not been for this we

would have made our surprise more complete. Captain

Slocumb got his two brass pieces in position down this

ravine but was too late to do us any good, and in attempting
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to get out, one of his ammunition wagons jammed between

two trees and a detail from the First Florida was ordered to

help him out, and I was in this detail. The Yankees had a

battery in position by this time and were pouring in grape

and canister on us and killing horses and men.

We finally got the cannon out all right, but lost four

horses aind four men by the explosion of a cannon caisson

which was set on fire by a shell from the Yankee artillery. It

was a hot place about that time, I teU you. It was the 22"^^ of

July and hot as it gets to be, and we made for a shade near

a log house which the people had left to get out of the range

of the firing. While resting there John Wheeler and Stockwell

got a window of the house open and found a big chum of

buttermilk and brought it out under the shade to us, aind I

do not think that milk ever tasted so good to me as that did.

In fighting there the Yankees lost one of their best men,

General McPherson.
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Chap. IX

The Battle of Franklin, Tennessee

The Worst Battle of the War

W;'hen General Hood was trying to get in General

Sherman's rear north of Atlanta, our first place to

strike the railroad leading from Atlanta to Nashville was at

Dadton, which at that time was guarded by a regiment of

Negroes commanded by white officers, who, by the way, were

all mounted on white horses. We arrived in front of the place

early in the morning and our General [William B.] Bate sent

in a flag of truce to demand its surrender, which was

granted without firing a shot, and the troops were turned

over to our brigade to guard. It seems that up to this time

the soldiers had all been barefooted, but when they found

they had to surrender, new shoes were issued to the entire

regiment and when they marched into our lines every man
of them had new footwear. Our commander saw what had

been done, and under his direction we exchanged shoes with

the prisoners, and the next morning our men all had new

shoes and they were barefoot again. We guarded them for

three days, but what became of them afterwards I never

knew. The only trouble about the shoes was that they were

all number elevens and were too big for us, but we wore

them just the same.
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About three miles from Dalton the Yankees had a block

house built ofhewn oak logs, and when our commander sent

a flag of truce to demand its surrender the Yankees refused

to recognize it and fired on the two officers carrying it, one

of them. Captain Miney, having his horse shot under him.

They came back to the command and General Bate ordered

his two brass thirty-two-pounders turned loose at the house,

and every time they fired, the splinters flew. After a few

rounds another flag of truce was sent in and this time they

surrendered, about eighty of them. The block house was

fitted with small loopholes from which they fired, killing and

wounding a number of our men. The next morning my
messmate and myself went in the house, which was quite

dcirk inside, to see if we could find anything to eat. I was

feeling around on the ground and found something cold that

felt like a piece of meat, and when I picked it up and took it

to the light, 1 found it to be an ear that had been shot off of

one of the soldiers who had been in there. It was a big flat

ear but I had no appetite.

From there we marched to Columbia [Tennessee -

November 24, 1864] on the Duck River, at which place the

Yankees were stationed. General Cheatham was in cormnand

and next morning a detail of one hundred men was ordered

and marched down the river about three miles. A staff officer

put me in command with instruction to bmld a bridge over

which the infantry could cross. His instructions were to

bmld trusses with legs ten feet long, put stringers on these

and floor the bridge with rails. We went to work and by night

had the trusses ready but the pontoon train which was to

put them up in the river had not shown up and it was

reported that it had been captured. We kept at work as best
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we could and about one o'clock at night the pontoon train

came and went to work setting up the trusses. On the

opposite bank was a high bluff and about half my men were

taken over and put to work making a cut through that and

worked all night without flinching, but the next morning

when General Pat Cleburne arrived with his brigade ready to

cross, the cut was not finished.

General Cleburne called for the officer in charge and I

reported, politely saluting him as he sat there on his big

blaze-faced sorrel horse. He wanted to know why the work

had not been completed and I told him that I did all possible

with the men that I had, that not a man had closed his eyes

all night. He was mad about it and abused me shamefully,

and threatened to have me arrested and court-martialed for

my failure, but I was never arrested. He sent a lot of his men
over to the other side and put them to work on the cut and

soon had it finished and got his men over along with a few

ambulances. General Cheatham soon followed him with his

corps, but neither had any artillery or wagons except a few

ambulances. The working detail was ordered to get their

guns and fall in with their commands and we started to

Spring Hill [Tennessee - November 29, 1864], said to be

about nineteen miles distant, which we reached about four

in the afternoon, but still no sleep. General [Robert E.] Lee's

corps was in front of Columbia to hold the Yankees in check

until we got around in the rear.

When we arrived in Spring Hill we were thrown in line of

battle and ordered to advance against the Yankees, and we

soon drove them back to the railroad. When dark came and

we were ordered to cease firing, we lay down to sleep in line

of battle so near the road that we could hear the Yankee
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officers giving the commands to

their men as they marched

along. Some of the officers said

afterward that if General Hood

had not been drunk the

charge would not have been

stopped. The Yankees who

had slipped by General Lee in

the night and gone to

Franklin would have been cut

off if our advance had gone a

dozen yards further, as we

would have been in possession of

the railroad, which General [Nathan

Bedford] Forrest with his gallant cavadry had struck the day

before and blockaded with several overturned cars.

In the evening the Yankees had several heavy guns

playing on us and a number of our men were killed and

wounded. During the charge I stepped over a man who had

been struck with a cannon ball that had cut off half of his

head. I have often wondered who he was and what regiment

he belonged to.

The next morning [November 30, 1864] before sunrise we

were put on the road to Franklin, said to be about nineteen

miles, and this was another forced march. All that day we

passed Yankee wagons on the road that had been captured

by General Forrest's men, the mules shot or taken and the

wagons plundered cind left standing in the road. Often when
our advance guard would reach the top of a hill they could

see the Yankee rear-guard some two or three miles in

advance. About four o'clock we arrived within about three
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miles of Franklin and were thrown in line of battle, and our

division commander. General [John Cadvinl Brown, came

down the line and made us a little talk. He said that the

Yankees had thrown up breastworks, but they were

temporary and we could go right over them, and with this

done we would go right on to Nashville and asked us if we

would follow him. We gave the rebel yell and said that we

would follow him.

Our skirmish line, in command of Captain Saxon, was

thrown out and soon drove the Yankee pickets in, and then

the main line was ordered forward.

The skirmish line under Captain Saxon drove the

Yankees out of their first line of breastworks, but was

compelled to retire to the main line, and the muskets began

popping in all directions, coming and going hot from both

sides until our lines drove them out of their second line of

works. When they fell back to their main line our boys began

dropping like com before a hail storm, and we never did

succeed in reaching their main line, for about fifty yards in

front of it they had cut down a lot of thorny locust bushes

and it was impossible in face of the hot fire to get through

them. —

~

When it was seen that we could not get through this

brush line the order was given to lie down. It was the only

hope for us, for we could neither go forward or go back in

such a fire and live. This was about seven o'clock in the

evening and we laid there under that terrific fire until about

eleven when all at once the firing ceased, and then and not

until then could we do anything to relieve the sufferings of

the wounded, who were all around us and begging for water.

Their piteous cries ring in my ears to this day and I often

-58-



THE BATTLE OF FRANKLIN, TENNESSEE

dream of them. When it was learned that the enemy had

slipped out of their breastworks and gone, our thin lines

arose but it was thin indeed, for over two-thirds of our men
had dropped.

No commands were given that I heard of, and it seemed

to be every man for himself. Myself and Lieutenant James

Hart got together and began looking for water and something

to eat. He had lost his haversack during the fighting in the

evening and I had nothing but a piece of cold combread in

my old dirty haversack, but we ate that without any water,

and afterward decided to go down into the town in the

search for water and something more to eat. We worked our

way through the brush and over the breastworks and as we

got down on the inside we stumbled over the dead bodies of

the killed there.

It was about half a mile from there down to the business

part of town and when we arrived there everything was shut

up. Not a ray of light from any residence or business house

and we went to four or five houses before we found anyone.

At last we got an answer and a long, thin, middle-aged,

smooth-shaven man came to the door and asked us what we

wanted and who we were. We told him that we were

Confederate soldiers from the battlefield and wanted water

and something to eat. He asked us where the Yankees were

and we told him that they had all gone on the road to

Nashville. He then took us through the house into another

room where there were three or four ladies and some men,

and they were a badly frightened lot, but seemed somewhat

relieved when we told them that the Yankees had gone. They

gave us water and the ladies soon had us a good supper

fixed up for which we were hungry enough to do full justice.
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About that time all the cannons, that General Hood had

said to be about three hundred pieces, came up and were

put in position near the bridge which the Yankees had just

crossed, and commenced firing. It was the most terrific

cannonading that I ever heard and made the dishes from

which we were eating fairly rattle on the table and nearly

frightened the men aind women into fits.

Some of our boys who were first out on the road toward

Nashville next morning told me that they saw dead Yankees

five and six miles out on the road that had been killed by

that cannonading that night. In all my four years' service I

never heard such a roar as they made that night.

We soon finished our supper or breakfast, for it was past

midnight and daylight soon came, and we started back to

the battlefield. We asked the men there to go back with us

and two of the young men started and went as far as the

breastworks, but when they saw the dead men there their

hearts failed them and they turned back.

When my comrade and I reached the breastworks we met

an officer who told me that I was to go to the Carter house

and join the burial detail. When I got there I was placed in

charge of about fifty men and the next two days was the

most horrible that I ever put in, in my life. Though it has

been more than forty years since then, the scenes of that

battlefield are as fresh in my mind as though it was

yesterday. I think the hardest fighting must have been near

the old gin house on Pike Road, for there the bodies were so

thick that we could have stepped from one to another, and

to think that these were our own boys, who had left all that

was near and dear to them to fight for the cause they

believed was right.
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The Carter House
The bullet-ridden walls can still be seen today
at this historic site in Franklin, Tennessee.

One of the first things I saw that morning was General

Pat Cleburne's old sorrel horse astraddle of the Yankee

breastworks, just as he had tried to jump over. We went up

to him and Ijmig just over inside the breastworks was the

body of the General and near his that of General [John]

Adams, both surrounded by the bodies of the Yankee and

Confederate dead.

About this time a general rode up and, calling us to

attention, made a flowery speech praising the fighting we

had done and said that no printed history would ever record
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braver men than we had proven ourselves during the terrific

fighting of the night before. The tears rolled down his cheeks

as he talked, and he turned and rode off. I did not know who

he was, and while some of the boys said that they thought

that he was a Mississippi general, I have always thought that

it was General [Edwaird C] Walthall, who did such good

fighting on the pike road before Nashville just before our

lines were broken by the Yankees getting in behind us.

After completing our work as the burial detail we were

ordered to rejoin our commands and we were soon on the

road to Murphreesboro. General Bate's division of infantry

and General Forrest's division of cavalry were in command.

I do not remember the distance, but I

do remember that we got there in

time to get a good licking

[December 5-7, 18641. We got

there about noon and were

formed in line of battle, the

cavalry being dismounted

and put on our right. We had

been told that there were

only about three hundred

Yankees there but there were

nearer ten thousand and they

ran right over us. We fired a few

volleys but had to give way. In the

advcince we went through the old

cemetery where our boys were buried that had fallen in the

first fight there about two years before.

As we fell back through the cedar grove I noticed a

number of places where the bones of those buried there in
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the fight before were sticking up through the ground and it

seemed as if they must have been buried very shallow and

more rubbish than dirt thrown in the graves.

After we had fallen back and re-formed our lines

Generals Forrest and Bate had a big row about some parts

of the line giving way too soon, and I thought they would

shoot one another, but some other officers got between them

and stopped the row.

We took up the march from here to the railroad leading

from Murphreesboro to Nashville, striking it about ten miles

north of the former place, capturing two block houses on the

road to Nashville. We stopped about dark and sat up all

night burning rails to keep from freezing, so cold was the

weather. The next day we rejoined the remainder of the army

£ind went to digging ditches.
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The Battle of Nashville, Tennessee
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Jfc FTER our hard and bloody fight at Franklin, we

j|^5^advanced twenty miles toward Nashville, where we

remained nine days in throwing up breastwork and building

what was called redoubts. The weather was very cold—we
worked both night and day getting our fortifications ready for

the fight on the morning of the ninth [of December 1864].

The enemy advanced on us from

Nashville, which was four miles

distance, and about ten o'clock in

the day the Yankees drove our

picket line and the fight

became general all along the

lines. General Walthall's

brigade was in line of battle

on the pike road leading from

Franklin to Nashville, at

which place was the hardest

fighting done.

We were on a little hill to

the left of General Walthall's

brigade, which could be seen plainly

from our hill, and the first shots were
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made on tJie pike road by lines of battle by Negro troops; the

Negroes made some four or five different charges on

Walthall's brigade and were repulsed in every charge, leaving

the field black with dead. There was one charge made by the

Negro troops tiiat I noticed in particular. Walthall's men
never fired a gun until the Negroes got up within about

seventy or eighty yards of their breastworks, then they

opened the deadly fire with our boys' bullets almost

demolishing the Negro ranks to the ground. I think that it

was the last charge they made on General Walthall's

brigade—that was the best fighting done that day. Walthall's

troops repulsed them five different times. When the Negroes

failed to break Walthall's lines, they moved further to our left

and broke our lines.

About the time our lines were broken a flanking party

had been sent around in our rear, and it was a general

fallback by Hood's whole cirmy—a general stampede. We fell

back across the pike road; down that road was blue with

Yankees, and they were closing in on us and pouring heavy

volleys into us. It appeared to me that the air was filled with

shells and bullets. A perfect stampede had taken place

among the whole army—^Yankees and our men all mixed

together; some surrendering, some falling dead, others trying

to get up the hill to make their escape, the colonels and

generals dashing across the hills trying to rally the men with

pistols and swords drawn over their retreating men. The

generals would get thirty or forty men rallied in a squad and

dash off to rally another squad, when the first rallied would

break ranks and run for life. Our wagons and ambulances

were left with the Yankees to be captured. Myself and

messmate ran by where a soldier was trying to cut his mules
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loose from his wagon. He said to us, "Boys, for God's sake,

help me get my mules loose from the wagon!"

I said in reply, "Let your damned mules go and try to

save yourself."

The Yankees had our guns turned on us. Myself and

partner made the top of the hill. As we were running a big

shell busted just above our heads, passing so near our heads

until the force of it knocked us both to our knees and struck

a man just a few steps from us. It must have knocked him

ten feet up in the air. When we arrived at the top of the

mountain we stopped a moment and looked back down in

the valley where our wagons, men and Yankees were all

mixed up together. It was a bad sight to see our men waving

their white handkerchiefs flying, surrendering to the

Yankees.

We must have lost one-half of our wagon train which was

left down in that valley. Myself and partner at last got into

the road leading to Franklin along with a lot more of our

men. It was said to be nineteen miles to Franklin. The wagon

train that escaped was ahead of us on the road to Franklin.

It cut the red clay up and made it about half-leg deep in

mud, and it was very dark and sometimes we would have to

stop and pull men out of the mud. We were marching under

no orders whatever—every man for himself. A great many of

our men completely gave out and some of them would crawl

up into the hind-part of the wagons. I thought several times

that I would have to fall out for I was completely broken

down, but when I would think of being captured I would

come to a new life. About the break of day next morning we

arrived back into Franklin; about one dozen of us fell down

under some old sheds and fell asleep, and about nine o'clock
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we were waked by some commanding officer. We were tJien

ordered to look up our regiment and when we all got

together, about one-half of the regiment were missing. We
then marched for Tennessee River where we were to put our

pontoon bridge in to cross the army on, when the Yankees

sent five gunboats to meet us there to prevent us from

putting our bridge across the river. But our intoxicated

commander put all the sharpshooters we had left, with their

long-range one-thousand-yard guns, along the bank of the

river and whipped the gunboats back down the river; then

we put our brigade across the river over into Alabama and

then marched for Corinth, Mississippi, where we were put

under commaind of General Dick Taylor.
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Our Last Battle in the War

Jfc fter our retreat from Nashville, we went to Corinth

M£%^^heTe we stayed four or five days. We had captured six

so-called bushwhackers. We were marched out to an old field

the fifth morning and drawn up in line; those six

bushwhackers were placed down upon their knees fastened

with their hands tied behind them to a stake. Twelve men
with loaded guns were marched in front of the six men, and

orders were given by the officers in command of the twelve

men to fire, and the six men dropped dead except one, who
was shot the second time. Our whole command was

marched along by the six dead bodies.

A little incident that shows what men will do sometimes,

occurred when our ragged remnant of Hood's army was

going to reinforce Johnston in South Carolina. After moving

down through the Mississippi Valley onto the Alabama River,

we took the steamboat for Montgomery [Alabama]. We took

the train to Columbus, Georgia, and when we reached there

we were formed in line in the street while the ladies of the

town gave us a splendid supper from baskets. We took the

train again for Macon [Georgia], the higher officers all being

in the rear coach, and some of the boys, to have a good time

in Macon, pulled the coupling pin and dropped off this rear
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coach, so when we got to Macon we had no generals. They

were good and mad but could never find out who it was that

pulled the coupling pin.

From Macon we went to Milledgeville [Georgia] where we

took up a line of march through the country to Augusta

[Georgia]. Here we crossed a very large bridge over into

South Carolina, then onto Chesterfield near where we got

into North Carolina. We marched direct through the state

until we met Sherman's army at Bentonville [March 19-21,

1865], then we whipped Sherman's troops and drove them

back and also captured a lot of the Yankees' baggage and

guns. This battle was the last battle of war with us.

We were then commanded by General J. E. Johnston.

Soon after our fight at Bentonville, we fell back to the

railroad leading from Greensboro to Wilmington [North

Carolina] and went to camps at a station called Smithfield,

where we remained six or seven days. Then we received

orders to go up to the commissary and draw four days'

rations, blue beef and musty com meal—every soldier to

cook up his four days' rations and be ready to march at four

o'clock next morning. We were all ready to march on the

road at the appointed time—^we were put on what our

generals called a forced march for four days and nights and

ate our blue beef and musty, half-cooked combread as we

marched along the long road. The word was that we were

trying to meet General Lee's army; it seems to me that we

crossed a great many creeks and other streams of water on

that four days' long march through North Carolina. Some of

the creeks were so deep that our men had to put their

equipment on top of their heads. We waded every stream we

came to, the water would take us up to the airmpits—the

-69-



SEVENTY-SEVEN YEARS IN DIXIE

order was to hurry up to meet Lee. The night of the fourth

day's march we were up near Greensboro, where we halted

about nine o'clock and were ordered to stack arms and rest.

By the time I stopped and sat down 1 was asleep and knew

nothing more until the next morning.

I was awakened by the voice of some commanding officer

calling the soldiers to attention. He said that the order was

for all the soldiers to remain in place until further orders.

Some of the boys yelled to the officer to bring rations

around, that they had not eaten anything in two days—it is

true to say that there was a great many men who would eat

up four days' rations in two days. I believe that most of our

command was out of rations after about two days and

nothing else to eat. About eight o'clock the same morning

General Brown, our division commander, came around on

our part of the lines aind called the command to attention

and said:

My fellow soldiers, I have sad news to tell you.

We have struck arms here for the purpose to

surrender to General Sherman. General Johnston is

now in conference with General Sherman coming to

the terms of surrendering [Aprd 18, 1865]. General
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Lee has surrendered already. I advise you, good

soldiers, to remain as you are and get your parole

and try to get back to your old homes. Our army is

completely surrounded by the enemy.

Then General Brown turned his large, black horse

around to bid us farewell; a regular yell turned loose along

the lines saying, "General Brown, we want rations. We aire

hungry and must have something to eat!" This was the fifth

day since we drew the four days' rations.

General Brown turned and fronted the lines again and

says, "Boys, our side has no more rations for you. I will see

that you get rations from the other side."

Some of the men says, "General, we want something to

eat today."

The General turned again in riding off. He says, "Good

soldiers, 1 will get you something just as soon as I possibly

can." I believe if 1 remember right we got no rations for three

or four days after General Brown had left us. I believe it was

the night of the third day when the rations came to our part

of the lines, but when it did come, it came plentifully, good

bacon, hard biscuits, sugar and good coffee. There was

heavy eating done for a while—the Yankees were very kind

to us, but now and then there would be one that would

throw off on us. Myself and several others went up on the

hill in the old field where all our wagons, cannons,

ambulances, horses and mules were parked for the Yankees.

There I got a very large mare, one of the battery horses that

helped to pull our cannons. I got one old saddle and bridle

and rode this mare home to Florida. I was three weeks in the

saddle—I came through North Carolina, South Carolina,

Georgia, Alabama and into the Sea Coast of Florida. My old
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mare brought me through all of that long distance, but

before I got halfway to Florida my old mare was as blind as

a bat, and she died at my old home.

Coming through Georgia it was a very hard matter to get

anything to eat or to get feed for my horse. I was very hungry

one day about noon and noticed a good-looking house a

short distance from the roadside. I thought that I would try

to get dinner and my horse fed. I had tried several houses

back on the road for something to eat but failed and I had

not had breakfast, so I rode up to this house and hallooed.
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The landlady came out on the porch. Soldier-like I asked for

something to eat and feed for my horse. In those days

soldiers never called at a house for a meal, for if he did, he

failed to get it. This good lady answered my call, "Who are

you? A Yankee?"

I readily answered, "I am a Confederate soldier going

home."

The good lady said, "Alight and bring your horse inside."

I was very soon inside and met the landlady on the porch.

She said, "We have but little for ourselves, but we will divide

with a Confederate soldier. The mean old Yankees came

along here the other day and took everything we had."

I told the good lady that the war was over aind the

soldiers are going home and she said, "Good news, daughter,

and let us fix this soldier a good dirmer, the war is over. I am
so glad your papa will be home soon." She sure did give me
a good dinner. After I finished eating I asked the lady what

I owed for dinner and feeding my horse. She answered,

"Nothing," but I paid her twenty-five dollars in Confederate

money.

I said to the lady, "I have not told you the bad part of the

war. Lee's and Johnston's armies are both surrendered, and

we are whipped in the hands of the Yankees." The good

woman almost shed tears.

I believe I was three weeks getting to Geneva, Alabama,

near the line of Florida.

-73-



Chap. XII

The Little Wonder That Never Was Satisfied

T^HIS story tells of two little baby girls who were very

hungry. Late in the evening when General Lee was

falling back slowly before the enemy in front of Richmond,

Virginia, he saw that it was important to plan a battle to

save Richmond. He was forming his lines of battle through

the thick underbrush to meet the great army of the North.

He saw it was necessary to have all the families that

would be in danger of shells and shot to move to the rear,

out of danger. The mother of these two little girls was neair

General Lee's lines, and General Lee sent his headquarters'

wagons to the aid of this noble family to move them to the

rear at once.

When the wagons cirrived they were soon loaded and off

for the rear with those little baby girls and furniture. After

traveling all night they found themselves near a neighbor's

house and they stopped for a call and a few minutes' rest.

Daylight was just approaching and those two little girls had

been hurried off from their home that night without supper

£ind they were very hungry. This lady neighbor called the

refugees in to have breakfast, so the retreating lady with her

two hungry little girls were soon out of the wagon and in the

house around the cook stove waiting for the biscuits to get
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done. But it seemed that the woman's stove was filled with

green wood and those little girls were waiting and watching

those biscuits to get done, but it was all in vain. A staff

officer came up and said those wagons must go to the rear

at once, so the little girls were forced away and did not see

the biscuits done.

Several years afterwards, when those little girls were

young ladies, one of them wrote a little piece about the

biscuits. Her little wonder was this: "Did those biscuits ever

get done?"
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Chap. XIII

Summary

These Battles of '61 - '65

Were Fought by the Boys in Gray

C^fOMRADES of Fishing Creek, Shiloh, Penyville,

^Murfreesboro, Jackson, Chickamauga, Missionary

Ridge, Kennesaw Mountcdn, Peach Tree Creek, Atlanta, the

battle of the 22"^^ of July near Atlanta, Jonesboro, Franklin,

Nashville, Bentonville, our last battle on this historic

battlefield, amid the roar of cannons, shrieks of shells, the

rattle of musketry, and the shouts of living and groans of the

wounded and dying, cheering each other on to victory or

defeat, or death ties of affectionate friendships were formed

that bind us into one brotherhood by an invisible chain that

is being shortened link by link, and ere long the last link will

be broken in the presence of the new-made grave, some of

the tenderest recollections of our lives are awakened and

brought forth from memory, memories however sad, dear

alike to you and me, because they are embalmed in sorrow,

suffering, sacrifice and tears.

The visitation of this sad dispensation of an all-wise and

a most merciful God, visibly reminds each of us old
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comrades that at best, a very few years remain to us upon

this earth.

Let us this day resolve to make our callings and election

sure and so live that when the roll is called up yonder we will

have an unbroken reunion of all Confederate veterans who

risked their all amid privation and suffering for four long

years in defense of all that is dearest to man, home and

loved ones, and to protect and maintain the most brilliant

and magnificent civilization the world has ever known—that

of our Southlaind. Every Confederate soldier's tombstone is

as touching as his last tear upon the white bosom of his

young manhood's bride and as tender as his farewell words

to those who will sit among the graves of the Confederate

veterans some future day and write sweeter songs than

mortal ears ever heard before, because each tombstone is a

volume within itself.

Forty-five years ago the 26"" day of April, 1865, the

Confederate flag, with its cross of its stars and bars, was

furled at Greensboro, North Carolina, for the last time, and

we are content to let it stay so forever. There is enough of

glory and sacrifice encircled in its folds, not only to enshrine

it in our hearts forever, but the trumpet of fame that must

be silenced within it ceases to proclaim the splendid

achievement over which that flag floated while we wore the

gray four long years.

I am sincerely Seventy-Seven Years in Dixie.

H. W. Reddick
Santa Rosa, Florida
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CivilWar Poems
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CIVIL WAR POEMS

The Good Old Confeds

T^he good old Confeds marched over hills, fields, and

valleys.

On lots of battlefields they discharged many roaring volleys.

They knew not what moment that would be their last.

That they would be slaughtered in the fields of the blast.

They marched over broad fields from East to the West,

To fight for their rights which they thought best.

The good old Confeds in Gray,

Are now at home in peace.

We hope each one a long, happy life.

And at home he may stay.

Let us now do honors to the "Good old Confeds,"

For it won't be long before

They'll all be dead.

We must not forget our Mothers

Who stayed and kept their homes,

Pra5mig, and working at their looms.

The war is now ended between the North and South,

'Twas four long years spent at the cannon's mouth.

My Father allowed me this space in his little book.

Which is an opportunity I gladly took.

Walker H. Reddick
Noma, Florida

79-



SEVENTY-SEVEN YEARS IN DIXIE

The Boys in Gray of '61 - '65

Wf'ho fears to speak of "Sixty One"

Who blushes at its fame?

When cowards sneer at deeds then done.

Who hangs his head in shame?

He's all a knave or half, a slave.

Who slights his record thus:

But a true man like you men.

Will fill his glass with us.

We drink the memory of the brave.

The faithful not a few.

Some lie near Potomac's wave.

Some sleep in "Oakdale too."

Hundreds are gone, but still live on.

The names of those who died.

All true men like you men.

Remember them with pride.

Some 'neath the sods of distant States,

Their patient hearts have laid.

Where with the stranger's heedless haste.

Their unwatched graves were made.

But though their clay be far from us.

Where friends may never come.

In true men like you men.

Their spirit's still at home.
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The dust of some is Southern earth:

Among their own they rest.

For the same land that gave them birth

Has caught them to her breast.

And we will pray that from their clay

Full many a race may start.

Of true men like you men.

To act as brave a part.

They rose in dark and evil days.

To right their native land:

They kindled here a living blaze.

That nothing could withstand.

Alas, that might should vanquish right!

They fell, and passed away.

And true men like you men.

Are far too few today.

Then here's their mem'iy, may it be

For us a guiding light.

To cheer, though lost our liberty.

And lead us in the right!

Thru good and ill be patriots still.

By each good impulse stirred.

And you men, be true men.

Like the dead of the gallant Third.

(Author unknown)
Selected by John H. Reddick

Santa Rosa, Florida
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Benefits of the Civil War

T^he war, known as the Civil War,

Which the men in Gray fought so noble to win.

Was not without benefits to us,

And even now we can see them.

It was inevitable, it could no more

Have been avoided than you could have stayed

The movements of the tides.

The world will be the final arbiter.

So long as society remains irrational, and human
Governments are imperfect;

But the war, with all its dark catalogue of horrors.

Brought many many blessings.

It developed the many virtues of our people.

And taught them to be more self-sacrificing.

Again, the war built upon more certain and enduring

foundations the government of the United States, and it

firmly stands upon a broader and stronger basis than before.

The question may be asked, "Were we honest in our

convictions and sincere in our alignage to the Confederate

States?** We may most assuredly say, "Yes," nor does this

affect our loyalty to the government of the United States.

It is something to have illustrated the valor of a people,

to have carried a nation's flag without dishonor through a

hundred battles and set an example to coming eyes of what

unselfish heroism can accomplish.
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And the day is not far distant when the courage and

heroic deeds of these brave and noble men will be recognized

as the common heritage and glory of a prosperous and

patriotic people.

All honor is due this dear old soldier who has composed

this little book as a token of the brave and heroic deeds of

his countrymen and himself, who is hale and heairty at the

age of SEVENTY-SEVEN, and may he survive many happy

years on earth with us yet.

Ettie Louise Strickland

INDA, Mississippi
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All Soon Be Gone

nn
eighteen hundred and sixty-one

;

The war between the States had just begun.

There Ccime a Ccdl for manly men-

Both father and son enlisted then.

They were true, brave aind strong;

Only a few more years and they'll all be gone.

We meet them everywhere we go,

Some are lame, halt, and blind, you know.

God knows we love them. He loves them more.

It was for a noble cause, and Oh!

When the guns begin to roar.

Brave, true and noble men onward they would go.

And then we thought they'd come back to stay.

Let's honor them while they live, they'll soon go away.

But don't forget their loved ones were at home.

They worked, tugged, wove and spun.

Prayers were heard from every loom,

"God save our noble men!"

Confederate soldiers they were brave and true.

As they marched under the RED WHITE AND BLUE.

Say kind words to them as you go on

For they all will soon be gone.

Arthur B. Harrison
Noma, Florida
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The Blue and the Gray

Bn
battle array the Blue and the Gray,

Met in arms on the soils of the South,

And without any fear, though life was so dear,

To be spent at the cannon's mouth.

Fierce was the fight for what was deemed right.

By the warriors, each for his own.

But little the care each other would share

If the future could only atone.

Then came the glad day for the Blue and the Gray

To depart from the fields of the strife:

Once more to engage (And peace was the wage)

In the goodlier callings of life.

Oh! Great was the blight, whether wrong or right.

Of the war of the Blue and the Gray,

And sad was tlie song, howe'r grievous the wrong.

In the hearts of the people that day.

So many were lost of that mighty host

That marched to the beat of the drum.

That their graves are found on every mound-

They never would homeward come.

But there's never a wrong that hasn't its song

Of a right and a triumph, too;

And the triumph is sung, by every tongue,

Of the war of the Gray and the Blue.
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For in freedom's own land united we stand

On the ashes of hate and strife;

And as peace will endure so our flag is secure

As the emblem of National life.

All honor today for the Blue and the Gray

Whether they fought for the right or the wrong;

Their old story is told and 'twill never grow old-

Tis a glorious triumph song.

(Author unknown)
Selected by Velma McDonald

Santa Rosa, Florida
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The Gray and the Blue

T%o armies covered hill and plain
j

Each fought with all might and main, i

General Scott pressed forward that day

With his boys in blue.

While Beauregard said to his boys in gray:

"To the flag we'll stand true."

The soldiers flocked down to the banks.

Till bordered by its pebbles.

One wooded shore was blue with "Yanks,"

And one was gray with "Rebels."

When all was silent, and the band,

With movement bright and tricksy.

Made forest and stream, hill and strand.

Reverberate with "Dixie"

Then a pause and then again.

The boisterous trumpets pealed ^

And "Yankee Doodle" was the strain,

And the music was revealed.

In Blue or Gray the soldier sees

As by a wand of a fairy.

The cottage 'neath the live-oak trees.

The cabin by the prairie.

Ida Davis

Meridian, Mississippi
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The Parting Volley

ith arms reversed the ranks passed on,

The muffled drum msirks flattered tread,

A muster roll reads simply gone.

One more is numbered with the dead.

A Crash! The parting volley rolls,

A requiem among earth's souls.

The flag hung drooping fi-om the masts,

Faint echoes come and go and die.

Tears fill tiie eyes welled fi-om the past.

Of those who see a comrade lie

Where memory must be a name.

And tablets praise a hero's frame.

What then? A soldier gives his life.

For love of country valorous deeds,

And lies as one whom carnal strife

Marked for its own among its seeds.

Ah, yes! Ere yet a flashing blade

Was drawn or sheathed his grave was made.

Who calls the names of those to fall?

Ask of the God of battles, who?

But they eire known. And some of all

Who go to war to dare to do

Know that the piercing shot will bring

To him his altar's offering.

- Continued -
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Some meet the shock within the fray.

Some fall within the nurses' tent msiintained.

Weak and gaunt they waste away,

Yet to its end each way is bent;

The end? Deserved promotion calls

To higher life each one that falls.

(Author unknown)
Selected by Lilla Gunn

Santa Rosa, Florida
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Seventy-Seven Years in Dixie
Retiring after supper to the porch swings and hammocks

overlooking the Choctawhatchee Bay in Northwest Florida, H. Vt'.

Reddick's children would be enthralled as he regaled them with

stories of his Civil War battles in Kentucky, Mississippi, Tennessee

,

North Georgia andNorth Carolina.

At the age of seventy-seven and losing his eyesight, Reddick stt

his CivilWar experiences to paper by patiently dictating to two of his

adult children. Self-published in 1910, the few remaining copies of

the original book have rarely been accessible, hence the importance

of this revised edition.

Reddick's words on the Battle of FrankUn, Tennessee

When my comrade andIreached the breastworks we met an officer who

toldme that Iwas to go to the Carter house andjoin the burial detail The

next two days was the most horrible that I everput in, in my life. Though it

has been more thanfortyyears since then, the scenes ofthat battlefield are

asfresh in my mind as though it was yesterday . . . The bodies were so thick

that we could have steppedfrom one to another, and to think that these were

our own boys, who had left all that was near and dear to them tofightfor the

cause they believedwas right.

One ofthefirst things Isaw that morning was General Pat Cleburne 's

old sorrel horse astraddle ofthe Yankee breastworks, just as he had tried to

jump over We went up to him and lyingjust over inside the breastworks was

the body ofthe General and near his that ofGeneral [John] Adams, both

surroundedby the bodies ofthe Yankee and Confederate dead.

Reddick's eloquent summary

Every Confederate soldier 's tombstone is as touching as his last tear

upon the white bosom ofhis young manhood's bride and as tender as his

farewell words to those who will sit among the graves of the Confederate

veterans some future day and write sweeter songs than mortal ears ever

heard before, because each tombstone is a volume within itself.

lam sincerely Seventy-Seven Years in Dixie.

H. W. Redd^^^ ^^^^^ Rosa, Florida
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